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A Hospital at the Hot Springs: 

The Politics of Locating Veterans’ Health Facilities in Wyoming

By Phil Roberts
This article was first published as: “A Hospital at the Hot Springs,” Annals of Wyoming 81 (Summer 2009).
Sectional rivalries among the cities and counties in Wyoming have gone on since territorial times. Placement of the state capital, the university and the prison were among the most divisive issues in territorial legislative sessions and, well into the 20th century, political struggles over state institutions divided parties and brought about new coalitions. 
In principle, support for war veterans was practically universal—except when sectionalism intruded during times when it came time to choose permanent sites for veterans’ homes and hospitals. This is the story of one of those occasions—when the federal government chose a site for Wyoming’s only general medical Veterans’ Administration hospital.

War veterans made up a substantial portion of Wyoming’s population at the time of statehood in 1890. Many of them qualified for and applied to receive pension benefits from the federal government. Even 20 years later, as one historian estimates, more than one-quarter of all residents aged 65 and over in Wyoming were veterans receiving federal pensions.

Wyoming became a territory shortly after the end of the Civil War. Not only were many railroaders constructing the transcontinental railroad Union Army veterans, but so were a substantial number of stockmen, professionals and merchants. Many veterans held political office during the period. Prominent among them was Governor and, later, U. S. Senator Francis E. Warren.  Many other territorial officers also served in the army, many during the Civil War, including four of the seven elected territorial delegates and four of the appointed territorial governors.
  

Wyoming government formally began providing state care for war veterans just five years after statehood. In 1895, the state legislature authorized the opening of the Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Home as a temporary facility. It was to provide “for the care and treatment of honorably discharged soldiers, sailors, and Marines who served in the Union Armies” as well as the few surviving veterans of the Mexican War and those “State National Guard disabled while on duty.”
  

Admission did not require that the applicant suffer from war injuries. Admittees qualified “who by reason of wounds, disease, old age or other infirmities are unable to earn their living and have no adequate means of support.”

The legislation did not require that the veteran enter the service from Wyoming. Such a requirement would have eliminated nearly every veteran, given that the territory had been established after the Civil War. In fact, the law required only that an interested veteran have a one-year residency in Wyoming prior his application.

Initially, the legislature designated housing for veterans in Cheyenne. In 1894, the federal government abandoned Fort McKinney, near Buffalo, as a military post.  In 1903, the legislature passed a law accepting the fort from the federal government.
 A historian of Buffalo wrote. “[T]he buildings and military reservation were ceded by the government to the state of Wyoming. Some of the buildings were torn down and the materials disposed of, while some of the smaller buildings were moved to Buffalo” In the same 1903 legislative session, a law passed moving the veterans’ home from Cheyenne to Buffalo.
  The effort didn’t come without a bruising political battle between southeastern Wyoming legislators and those from outside the Cheyenne orbit.

”The selection….is a pointer, if nothing more, that the northern portion of our state is at last coming to be recognized,” the Buffalo newspaper editor wrote. “Cheyenne put up a strong fight to retain the home, but it would seem that, everything considered, the legislature, in its wisdom, concluded that Buffalo was the better place.” The editor concluded, “We assure the inmates of the Home that when they become domiciled in their new quarters, they will be more than pleased with the change.”
  Two of the buildings once used as cavalry barracks were converted to house the veterans.
 The state continued to operate the institution and, as of 2009, the facility continues operations at that site under the name “Veterans’ Home of Wyoming.” 

 


One part of Wyoming, the Big Horn Basin, never enjoyed a military presence. Later developing than the rest of the state, most Basin communities did not exist at the time of statehood. When state government facilities were designated, towns along the southern tier of counties gained the lion's share. 

The Basin settled for one state-funded facility--Big Horn Hot Springs State Park, designated in the 1890s when the federal government removed the world's largest mineral hot spring from Shoshone reservation control by means of treaty negotiation. Later federal legislation, ratifying the treaty, handed the site to the State.
 
The town of Thermopolis owed its name to the presence of the hot springs.  A German-born medical doctor, Dr. Julius A. Schuelke, named the town for the hot springs—“hot city”--a made-up combination of Latin and Greek words "thermal" and "polis." Schuelke, trained in the classics and music in Berlin and Griefswold, came to the Lander area to open a medical practice in the 1880s. He brought with him his Norwegian-born wife Elise. Both had traveled extensively throughout south central Africa and the Dutch East Indies. Because of his medical training and experience with German spas, when Schuelke first saw the hot springs in 1895, he guessed the waters to be highly therapeutic.  Consequently, he collected water samples to have analyzed for mineral content.
 The results seemed positive.

The medical benefits inherent in the waters appealed to U. S. Representative Frank Mondell, Wyoming’s only member of the U. S. House. 
  In 1897, he sought congressional approval for a new national park at the Thermopolis Hot Springs at the same time the Arkansas Hot Springs site was seeking similar status.  He apparently gained support in the House of Representatives, but two senators, Democrats Henry Teller of Colorado and Francis M. Cockrell of Missouri, initially opposed Mondell’s bill when it reached the Senate. Both men believed the designation might detract from the Arkansas proposal.  

According to his memoirs, Mondell spoke with Senator John Fairbank of Indiana who agreed to support the bill in the Senate. When the two men met with Teller and Cockrell, they were told they had “20 minutes to put together an acceptable line in the bill ratifying the treaty that would grant the hot springs to Wyoming.”
 Mondell managed to do so and the bill passed with the amendment on June 7, 1897.

The treaty granted an area of approximately ten miles by ten miles from the reservation to the federal government. However, the congressional legislation allowed for only one square mile, centering “at or about the principal hot spring,” to be designated for transfer to the State of Wyoming.
 The rest was opened for homesteading.

The Wyoming legislature anticipated passage of the bill and passed an act to receive the land in the name of the state in February, 1897.
  Two years later, the legislature placed jurisdiction over the hot springs reserve with the Board of Charities and Reform.
 
Before the jurisdictional decisions were made, legislators were urged to formalize treaty understandings that permitted, in perpetuity, free camping and bathing privileges.
 Eccentric publisher E. T. Payton spearheaded the “crusade” for free public use.
 Widely believed to have serious mental problems, Payton “was largely responsible for the enabling legislation,” according to historian Dorothy Milek.
.
Like other Big Horn Basin towns, Thermopolis was too new to have been considered for a site for any state institution in the 19th century. In 1889 Constitutional convention delegates could not agree on permanent locations for state facilities, deciding to leave the placement to voters “no sooner than 10 years” after the adoption of the constitution. In 1903, when the debates were heating up, Thermopolis was briefly mentioned as a possible “central location” for the capital.  Detractors, most of whom favored sites along the Union Pacific rail line in the south, pointed out that Thermopolis had such benefits from the hot springs that there was no need for a state institution there. 

Two legislators favoring two other competing towns poked fun at the Thermopolis effort and, at the same time, belittled the southern critics. Senators William Madden (Fremont), a partisan for locating the capital at Lander, and Pat Sullivan, who favored the capital at his hometown of Casper, introduced a bill to “move the hot springs” to Laramie.
  

Thermopolis, still a tiny town, did not put in a formal capital bid.
 Most Basin voters favored Casper's candidacy, but Cheyenne won a sufficient plurality to retain the capital on a "temporary" basis. The Magic City of the Plains won a majority in the contest against principal rivals Lander and Casper, but it was unable to marshal the fifty percent plus one needed for permanent designation.
  "Southern" towns Rawlins, Laramie and Evanston retained the prison, university and "insane asylum," respectively. The Basin towns gained no state institution as a result of the 1904 election.

Like the state, the federal government also ignored the Big Horn Basin. Because all of the major state institutions were located in the South and the prime military installation was there, only two federal pre-New Deal agencies had any reason for field offices in the Basin.
 The National Park Service centered its activities from Mammoth Hot Springs, the former location of Fort Yellowstone, in the northern part of the Park, isolated most of the year from the east boundary towns in Wyoming. The Bureau of Reclamation concentrated efforts along the Shoshone River where the agency supervised continuation of construction of the dam and irrigation projects in northern Park County.

As years passed, the hot springs continued to gain increasing interest for its medical properties. The State, through the Board of Charities and Reform, leased segments of the park to private firms including hotels, private hospitals, apartments and swimming pools. The State maintained the State Bathhouse, open to the public at no charge.
 
Except for a state-constructed bathhouse at the Hot Springs, even as late as 1930, the only state institution in the Basin was the boy's reform school, located at Worland as the result of the vote in a general election in 1912.
  Basin residents complained that "Cheyenne" (shorthand for state government) virtually ignored their region. They were surrounded by mountain ranges that cut the region off from the rest of the state through the winter months. Only in the 1920s was the region connected to the rest of Wyoming by road and rail.


More and more visitors discovered Thermopolis’ hot springs and entrepreneurs continued to build nearby facilities (with the approval of the State government). Thermopolis businessmen and officials sought the greater stability that would come from more state investment in the springs. Initially, state officials hoped rentals and leases from private hospitals and spas would earn enough to pay the expenses for maintaining the site. As the appropriations each biennium indicated, however, the park was unable to sustain itself, usually requiring substantially more from state monies as it earned in fees.
  To make the park more attractive to potential visitors as well as investors, the state paid to connect park buildings to the Thermopolis water and sewer system in 1910.  The same year, the state also installed electric lights and constructed sidewalks and a bridge near the large sulfur spring. The 1910 legislature even authorized a salary of $1,800 for a permanent custodian, but only $520 was actually spent for that purpose.
  

Through the years, the State called it “Big Horn Hot Springs,” but the legislature officially designated the name only in 1915.
 In 1921, the words “State Reserve” were formally added to the title.  Eight years later, in 1929, the name was slightly altered to reflect, once again, a new status--"Big Horn Hot Springs State Park."
 

The next year (1930), Dora McGrath of Thermopolis drafted a resolution for the Thermopolis chapter of the War Mothers, asking the federal government to designate the hot springs park area for placement of a veteran's hospital.
  Soon after the organization approved the measure on Nov. 24, the Thermopolis Chamber of Commerce and the American Legion Post endorsed the proposal.
  (Earlier that November, McGrath became the first woman ever elected to the Wyoming State Senate). To aid in the promotion, the chamber of commerce published a brochure titled “Why Wyoming Should Have a U. S. Veteran’s Bureau Hospital at Thermopolis.”
 
In the late 1920s, just as the Great Depression was beginning, the Hoover administration, seeking to quiet disgruntled World War I veterans, began a massive veterans’ hospital building program.
 Dora McGrath’s proposal was an early sign that Wyoming would receive such a facility and it seems to have been the first locally-initiated effort to gain a veteran's hospital for the state.
 
A month after the Thermopolis resolution was forwarded to the State, the State Board of Charities and Reform (made up of the five officials elected statewide) passed a resolution to give the land at the state park site to the federal government on a 99-year lease. The Veteran's Bureau would be required to pay a token rental of $1 per year. If such a lease was unacceptable, the board offered to urge title transfer by the legislature “necessary to comply wit the requirements for such United States Government Hospital and Sanitarium.” The resolution also offered free use of the hot water. The measure was signed by the board, Gov. Frank Emerson, Secretary of State A. M. Clark, State Auditor Roscoe Alcorn; State Treasurer W. N. Edelman; Katherine Morton, the State Superintendent of Public Instruction; and Amy Abbot, secretary to the board.

Three days later, U. S. Senator Robert Carey introduced a bill into the U. S. Senate authorizing construction of a 250-bed veteran's hospital for Wyoming and designating the site for the new facility as Thermopolis. The bill sought an appropriation of $1 million for the construction.


Carey wrote to the Board of Charities and Reform on Dec. 9, 1930, enclosing a copy of the bill. Two days later, U. S. Representative Vincent Carter wrote to the board, indicating his strong support for the measure.
 Soon after, however, to the disappointment of Wyoming's congressional delegation and Thermopolis citizens, the bill was referred to the Finance Committee. It was not reported out.

Soon, it became apparent that the Veteran's bureau was less enthusiastic about the location than Wyomingites had been. L. H. Tripp, chief of the Construction Division of the agency, wrote to Board of Charities and Reform Secretary Amy Abbot on December 13.  He told her that no funds were available for such a project. “The extent to which additional hospital construction beyond that authorized by the Act of Dec. 23, 1929, will be approved by the Congress is problematical, but you may rest assured that the needs of Wyoming will receive consideration by the Bureau in any future study of its hospital requirements.”

Back in Wyoming, the lobby in favor of a veteran's hospital in the state continued to grow. Veteran's groups, in particular, spoke out for the hospitalization bill (and pensions for World War soldiers). A number of Wyoming American Legion posts, including those in Torrington, Pavillion, Gillette, Riverton, Buffalo, passed formal resolutions.  American Legion Auxiliary chapters in Kemmerer and Midwest showed similar strong support. Auxiliary State President Mary Coolican wrote in favor.
 But it wasn't just veteran's group that wanted the hospital in Wyoming. Groups seemingly unrelated to Thermopolis or veteran’s issues were behind the effort. For example, the Goshen Irrigation District forwarded a resolution it passed in support of the bill.
 
Curiously (and perhaps ominously for Thermopolis), none of the resolutions indicated a site preference in a specific community—just that Wyoming ought to have a veteran’s hospital.
  Apparently, the lack of mention of endorsement for the Thermopolis site was not accidental. Two letters to Sen. Kendrick came from organizations in other towns requesting the hospital for their particular communities. A Green River community club, bolstered by editorial endorsements from the town editor, told the senator that if the hospital officials chose Green River as the site, the community would make land available at no cost.
 
Some Casper residents, anxious to gain the facility for their town, were even more strident. A telegram to Kendrick from the Casper Chamber of Commerce, sent in November 1930, emphasized Casper's centrality: "Central Wyoming offers ideal location for the Veteran Bureau General Hospital that will logically serve the major part of Wyoming, parts of Nebraska, North and South Dakota, and Montana….”
 
Casper already was home to the Veteran’s Bureau Regional Office. The agency’s district office originally was established in Denver for four states: Colorado, Wyoming, Utah and New Mexico. Regional offices were designated when the bureau was decentralized in July 1924. Each state had its own office. The Wyoming office was established in Casper in leased offices in the Becklinger Building. Chester L. Greedy was the first manager, serving until 1927. In that year James L. Laughlin was appointed to the position and he served in that job until his death in September, 1946. The hospitals, bureaus, agencies were merged in the VA by executive order of President Hoover on July 21, 1930.
 

Kendrick stood by the commitment to Thermopolis, noting in his reply to the Casper Chamber secretary C. B. Stafford: “As you know doubt know, Senator Carey has introduced a bill providing for the construction of a government hospital at Thermopolis and the Wyoming delegation will cooperate in an effort to secure favorable action on this matter.”
 
 
Nonetheless, Casper area residents were persistent. Natrona County Bar Association President I. G. McCann questioned the Board of Charities and Reform resolution’s claim that the veteran’s bureau had recommended Thermopolis. 

In this reply, Sen. Kendrick tried to distance himself from endorsing any particular site. He wrote in a pencil notation on his typed reply: “The Federal Hospitalization Board will determine the location. Gen. Frank T. Hines is chairman.”
 
Hines was a Westerner, born in Salt Lake City in 1879. A soldier in the Spanish American War, Hines rose in rank to general during World War I.  During the war, he served under Senator Francis E. Warren’s son-in-law, Gen. John J. Pershing and, apparently, had Sen. Warren’s support in gaining the appointment as director of the Veteran’s Bureau in 1923 after his predecessor was removed on corruption charges. Along with his supervisory role over the hospitalization board, Hines directed the 24,719 bureau employees in 54 regional offices.

Casper residents continued to point out the existing VA presence. D. W. Ogilbee, Post Commander of the Casper American Legion, noted Carey’s bill specifying Thermopolis, but argued: “Casper, of course, would like to see such an institution erected here, particularly since Casper is now the seat of the regional office of the U. S. Veterans Bureau. However, we think that the first thing to do is to secure the authorization and appropriation for such an institution, and that thereafter, the various towns in the state enter into contention upon the point as to where such an institution shall be located.”
  

In light of Kendrick's letter, the Casper American Legion Post passed a resolution concluding that “legislation covering such an institution would be easier to secure if the location of such a hospital was left to the United States Veterans Bureau…”
  To this resolution, the senator's aide, Ted Wanerus, responded noncommittally.

While Kendrick did not address the location issue to the Casper post commander, in his reply to the Green River club, he was specific: “While I appreciate fully the splendid civic spirit expressed by the citizens of Green River in offering free acreage for such a hospital, it is only fair to inform you quite frankly that I am definitely committed to Thermopolis as a site.” He noted that the hot springs would make it a choice location for such a hospital.
 
Wyoming Rep. Vincent Carter assured Thermopolis residents that the Wyoming delegation unanimously supported their town as the location of choice.  In 1931 Rep. Edith Rogers introduced the bill in the House of Representatives that designated Thermopolis as the hospital site. The bill failed.
   A similar Senate measure authorizing construction of the Wyoming hospital, introduced by Sen. Reed Smoot of Utah, noted no specific location for the facility. The location decision was to be made by the Federal Hospitalization Board. Unlike the bill specifying Thermopolis, the Senate version passed.
 
Following House passage and the President's signature on the hospital authorization bill, the hospitalization board sent a committee of three military officers in July 1931, to Sheridan, Cheyenne, Casper and Thermopolis.
  Initially, the board voted to add on to the Sheridan hospital, a facility housed on the grounds of Fort McKenzie. That hospital, originally transferred by the State of Wyoming to the federal government and converted to a veterans’ mental health facility in April 1922, was not founded as a veterans’ facility.
 It was first established as a branch of the Wyoming General Hospital in 1905.
  A second branch was established in Casper in 1909.
 The main branch was in Rock Springs, initially established as the “state miners’ hospital” in 1895, but renamed with the more expansive name in 1899.

In October 1931, President Herbert Hoover announced that Cheyenne was to be the location for the Veterans’ Administration hospital for Wyoming. The official announcement was made Oct. 30, 1931, although Thermopolis residents read about the decision two weeks earlier in the Thermopolis Journal.
 According to a press release, Cheyenne was chosen because of the water supply, the proximity to other veterans in Colorado and Nebraska, and because Cheyenne was a “highway hub” and hub for air transportation.

Reaction from Thermopolis residents was swift and angry. Again, the politicians connected with Cheyenne had seen to it that their hometown had gained yet another prize.  Cheyenne residents were prominent in both political parties so the wrath was bi-partisan. Cheyenne editor W. C. Deming, a Republican and head of the U. S. Civil Service Commission, quickly responded that it was the Veteran’s Bureau board, not Cheyenne or Cheyenne residents holding federal appointments, that brought about the decision.


Thermopolis partisans, unsure who was to blame, questioned the governor. Gov. Leslie Miller answered during the annual Democratic party banquet at the Townsend Hotel in Casper the following September. It was broadcast on radio.
 Miller’s opponents accused the governor of engineering the move to Cheyenne and away from Thermopolis.

Miller asserted that he had nothing to do with locating the VA hospital at Cheyenne. “Even Republicans know the truth,” he said, indicating that some wished to use it as a campaign issue against Miller in the gubernatorial election that fall. Miller quoted a letter from Frank Hines to Senator Kendrick indicating that Hines’ first communication with Miller was on Dec. 11, 1931, two months after the location decision had been made.

“Press Anderson made a statement in a Republican paper in which he stated he had investigated the whole matter from every angle and was firmly convinced that neither the Cheyenne Chamber of Commerce nor any other citizen of Cheyenne had anything whatever to do with the placement of the hospital in Cheyenne,” Miller said.  The governor noted that Rep. Vincent Carter’s secretary had been quoted in the Inland Oil Index making a similar statement.  He added that Robert Carey, also a Cheyenne resident, had given a speech to the Legion Auxiliary convention in Kemmerer where he made a similar statement.

The VA hospital would not come to Thermopolis, but local residents still believed that something should be done with the hot springs. As years passed and the VA hospital construction in Cheyenne was completed, many Thermopolis residents remained unhappy with the State’s lack of interest in the site. During many of those years, strapped for funds, the State barely had the money to maintain staff at the few existing state parks. Nonetheless, the editor of the Independent Record wrote that if the state didn’t promote the hot springs better, the site ought to go to the federal government.
  


In 1937 Gov. Leslie Miller and Senator H. H. Schwartz urged the National Park Service to look over the hot springs as a possible national site. A. E. Demaray, acting director of the NPS, wrote Senator Joseph C. O’Mahoney: “The Thermopolis hot springs area is an important state park, but it contains very little of the scenic, recreational or historic values that would justify its inclusion in the federal park system.”
  Despite the NPS refusal to consider it, the State of Wyoming purchased adjacent lands. In 1937 the State purchased a tract of 291 acres, east of the original site, for $875. In 1936, the National Park Service furnished $21,696 and the Army $100,000 for CCC work.

After the official selection was announced by President Hoover, the Veteran’s Bureau representatives began the search for a location for the hospital either within the City of Cheyenne or nearby.
  Director Hines apparently sought suggestions for the specific site in the Cheyenne area from none other than Robert Carey, U. S. Senator/former governor and son of Joseph M. Carey. 
 By that time, Joe Carey had died and Robert, brother Charles, and their mother controlled the family’s extensive land-holdings. 

In the end, the VA chose a site east of Cheyenne, suggested by Robert Carey that was 580 acres, “allowing for ample expansion.”  The land was donated by the City of Cheyenne.
  On Jan. 16, 1932, the VA issued a news release stating that the $750,000 hospital would be built on a tract called the “Cotton site” northeast of Cheyenne, three miles from the Capitol Building and on the opposite end of town from the military post, by then renamed Fort Warren, in honor of Cheyenne’s best known late resident and community promoter.

Construction started on the water lines put in by the City of Cheyenne on July 8, 1932. Actual building construction began on Sept. 6, 1932. The building was turned over by the contractor to the government on May 5, 1933, and officially opened for patients on May 9, 1934.
 Of the 600 acres deeded to the VA, by the 1980s, just 40.84 acres remained as part of the hospital grounds. The rest was returned to the city of Cheyenne where it is presently part of the city’s park system.

Casper promoters, disappointed with losing the location, found that placement of the VA Hospital also cost them a VA presence in their town. On March 31, 1933, a news release told of the move of the Veteran’s Bureau headquarters from Casper to Cheyenne where it would be housed in the “east wing of the hospital.”
 
But it was Thermopolis that suffered the greatest loss. Continuing complaints about State neglect of the site finally culminated in state designation of the Wyoming Pioneer Home to be built at the State Park and completed in 1950.  
A few years later, the Gottsche Rehabilitation Center was constructed in the park with a bequest from Sweetwater County sheep ranchers and bankers, William H. and Carrie Gottsche. The Gottsches’ daughter Marguerite was stricken with polio “and treated over much of the world, but they felt she gained more from treatment in the Hot Springs Park Pools. Because of this, they left money to build a rehabilitation center in Thermopolis.”  The will stipulated that the facility be modeled after the Warm Springs, Georgia facility.

The State Park continues to be a popular recreation site, with the State Bathhouse and two privately-owned swimming pools operating with state concessions. The Pioneer Home and Gottsche continue to operate nearby as well as the Hot Springs County Hospital. While all three care facilities are important to the local economy and the health and welfare of state and local people, none enjoys the significant federal funding and staffing that would have come from a veterans’ hospital.  
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� Ibid. 


� The act, originally House Bill 58, was introduced by Rep. Hench. The bill passed the House 45-5 with 6 absent, went on to the Senate where it passed and sent to the governor as Enrolled Act #46 (1915). In the same legislative session, a bill passed requiring that a “landscape gardener” be employed by the state to lay out the lands immediately adjoining the hot spring as a park. Session Laws, 1915, ch. 129, sec. 1.


� Session Laws, 1929.


� "Resolution," Charles Barnham Chapter, American War Mothers, Thermopolis, passed and approved Nov. 24, 1930, in "Hot Springs State Park," Box 3, Board of Charities and Reform Records, Wyoming State Archives.


� Ibid. McGrath was elected to the State Senate in 1930, becoming the first woman ever to serve in the upper house of the Wyoming legislature. See Walker, pp. 265-267, for a brief biography of McGrath.


� A copy is held in the Kendrick papers, Box 64.


� For a review of veterans’ programs in the period, see Skocpol, Protecting Soldiers and Mothers, op.cit.


� A few months before his death in October, 1929, F. E. Warren announced that Green River and Thermopolis were selected for construction of new post offices.  See Warren to James A. Wetmore, Supervising Architect’s Office, Dept. of the Treasury, Feb. 4, 1929. Warren papers, Coll. 13, Box 21, Letterbook 111; Press Release from Warren’s office to area newspapers, Feb. 4, 1929, p. 778. 


� Resolution, Dec. 5, 1930, in Board of Charities and Reform, Hot Springs State Park records, Veteran’s Hospital file, Box 3, Wyoming State Archives. The resolution included a paragraph designating that it be sent to Senators Robert Carey and John B. Kendrick, and U. S. Rep. Vincent Carter. A copy was also sent to Frank T. Hines, Division of the Veteran’s Bureau, Washington, D. C.


� Senate Bill 5102, copy included in letter, Carey to State Board, Dec. 9, 1930—in Board of Charities and Reform Papers, Hot Springs State Park papers, Box 3, Veteran’s Hospital file.


� Carter to the board, Dec. 11, 1930—in Board of Charities and Reform Papers, Hot Springs State Park papers, Box 3, Veteran’s Hospital file


� A copy of the bill is in the Board of Charities and Reform Papers, Hot Springs State Park, Veteran’s Hospital file, Box 3


� Tripp to Abbot, Dec. 13, 1930, Board of Charities and Reform, HSSP Papers, Box 3, Veteran’s Hospital file. The 1929 Act, Public Law #29, H. R. 234, was passed by the 71st Congress. The act left discretion to the President for hospital construction (in section 2). Copy is included in Kendrick papers, Box 64, “WW Veterans” file.


�  Midwest Auxiliary, Ruth Horton, Feb. 7, 1931; Coolican letter, Jan. 30, 1931; Riverton, Feb. 9, 1931—and all others in Box 41, Folder 2 of the Kendrick papers, American Heritage Center, University of Wyoming.


� Goshen Irrigation from Nellie Armitage, Feb. 5, 1931, in Kendrick Papers, Box 41, Folder 2, AHC.


� Kendrick papers, Box 41, Folder 2, AHC.


� Kendrick to Green River Community Club, Feb. 13, 1931; Telegram from O. O. Davis, editor, Green River Star, to Kendrick, Feb. 14, 1931, Box 41, Kendrick papers, AHC.


� Telegram to Kendrick from Casper Chamber of Commerce, Nov. 26, 1930. Kendrick Papers, “Correspondence File for 1930, Folder 1”, Box 41, American Heritage Center.


� Ellen Crago Mueller, “VA Center, Cheyenne,” an undated manuscript (but probably about 1980), in VF Hospitals, State Archives vertical files, p. 2.


� Kendrick to C. B. Stafford, Secretary, Casper Chamber of Commerce, Dec. 27, 1930 (same citation as above)


� Kendrick to McCann, n.d., Kendrick papers, Box 41, folder 2.


� He served as VA director until Aug. 14, 1945. He later served as U. S. Ambassador to Panama from 1945 to 1948. He died in 1960. 


� Ogilbee to Kendrick, Jan. 15, 1931, Kendrick papers, Box 41, folder 2.


� D. W. Ogilbee and Robert A. M. Scott to Kendrick, Jan. 20, 1931, Kendrick papers, Box 41, file


� Waneress for Kendrick to Ogilbee, Jan. 21, 1931. Kendrick papers, Box 41.


� Kendrick to the Green River Community Club, Feb. 13, 1931, Box 41, folder 2


� H. R. 16982, copy in the Kendrick papers, Box 41.


� S. 6125. The outcome on both bills is noted in Theodore Wanerus, Kendrick's administrative assistant, to James L. Laughlin, Regional Manager, U. S. Veteran's Bureau, Casper, March 5, 1931, in folder 2, Box 41, Kendrick papers, AHC.


� Official reports of the inspection board could not be located in the Veteran's Bureau, Construction Division papers, National Archives, RG 15. It is possible that the reports were not retained by the bureau or destroyed prior to records transfer.


� � HYPERLINK "http://www.sheridan.va.gov/about/index.asp" ��http://www.sheridan.va.gov/about/index.asp�, website accessed April 11, 2009.


�  Session Laws of Wyoming, 1905, ch. 30.


� Session Laws of Wyoming, 1909, ch. 20, secs. 1-6.


� Wyoming Compiled Statutes Annotated (1920), ch. 45, Sec. 563.


� “Endorsements Ignored as Vet’s Hospital is Placed in Cheyenne,” Thermopolis Journal, Oct. 14, 1931.


� Press release is cited in Mueller, op.cit. 


� Miller address to Democratic banquet, Casper, Sept. 14, 1932, transcript, Wyoming State Archives, MSS 61B


� Miller address, p. 5. 


� Editorial, Thermopolis Independent-Record, Dec. 17, 1934, p. 2.


� Cited in Thermopolis Independent Record, April 1, 1938, quoted in Milek, p. 132


� Board of Charities and Reform Papers, Hot Springs State Park papers, Box 3, Veteran’s Hospital file.


� Laughlin to Henderson, Nov. 23, 1931, letter, quoted qualifications for the site: no industry nearby, good local transport for employees who would live off-site; water, sewer, gas, electric; proper drainage; 15-30 acres for building on “higher ground”; wooded area desirable. 150-200 acres for 200-250 bed hospital with ¼ to ½ acre per bed larger.  Board of Charities and Reform Papers, Hot Springs State Park papers, Box 3, Wyoming State Archives. 


� Mueller cites a letter from Robert Carey to Laughlin, Nov. 23, 1931, stating that Hines wanted suggestions for the site. Tripp, in a letter on the same day, also sought suggested sites.


� Charles Carey, Robert’s only brother, died in an automobile accident near Cheyenne on Jan. 6, 1935.


� In a warranty deed dated Dec. 21, 1931, the city of Cheyenne passed title to the VA. Laramie County Clerk’s files. In Book 304, p. 218, Grantor-Grantee index, it is stated that 600 acres, Section 28, T. 14 N, R66W, 6th Principal Meridian, had been purchased by the City of Cheyenne. Parcel 1 from Schippe and Black for $900, conveyed by warranty deed filed Feb. 10, 1932; and for Parcel 2, purchased from Everett Glafshe, no price specified, and conveyed to the VA by Cheyenne for $1 (a fraction of the SE section of the property). To illustrate how chronology and motives may be mis-remembered over time, “In addition to the other matters that I mentioned, it may be of interest to note that the city gave the 600 acres of land to the VA in the first place in order to get the hospital situated in or near the City of Cheyenne….”  wrote J. H. Ables, Manager, VA Hospital, Cheyenne, to William Z. Bowie, Chief, Real Estate Division, Office of AA/Construction, VA, Munitions Bldg., D. C., Feb. 1, 1956, p. 2. Ables commented on a quit claim deed, Aug. 24, 1948, conveying land back to the City of Cheyenne for a park and golf course.


� Wyoming State Tribune, Jan. 17, 1932. While Fort D. A. Russell, renamed to honor Senator Warren, frequently was saved from closure by the powerful Wyoming senior senator, Warren had died two years before the veterans’ bureau board made the hospital location decision. A check of Warren’s papers indicates only scattered references to a possible future establishment of a veterans’ hospital in Wyoming. For more specific communication identifying Warren with the effort to make Cheyenne the permanent capital in 1904, see Warren papers, Coll. 13, Box 31, file 9: (microfilm reel 144): See also correspondence about vote on location of capital, 1904, in the general correspondence letterbooks in Box 21 and Box 22, Warren Papers, American Heritage Center.


�Wyoming State Tribune, May 2, 1934. See also WST, May 20, 1980.  The first recorded admission, however, was on May 4, 1934, a man from Laramie named Mah One.


� Wyoming Eagle, May 21, 1980.


� “VA—Wyoming Hospital, Resource Files, 1956,” O’Mahoney Papers, Coll. 275, Box 361, American Heritage Center. 


� � HYPERLINK "http://www.gottsche-rehab.com/" ��http://www.gottsche-rehab.com/� , the website for the Gottsche Rehabilitation Center, consulted April 10, 2009. 





